**RECEIVED**

**Oct 06 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn C. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-002127

---

Christine Jernigan,.....Appellant,

v.

Kershaw County South Carolina,.....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Justin A. Jernigan, Esq.  
S.C. Bar No. 74954  
302 Pine Cliff Dr.  
Seneca, SC 29672  
864-710-5029  
justin.a.jernigan@gmail.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

## I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

### **A. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Appellant’s Motion for Equitable Relief**

1. The circuit court erred by finding that Appellant, a life-long resident of South Carolina, lacked statutory standing to proceed with this case pursuant to FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A)
2. Appellant’s Motion for Equitable Relief established a *prima facie* showing of likelihood of success on the merits to the requested relief
  - a. KCSC’s August 18, 2022, FOIA Response did not comply with the legal requirements of FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c)
  - b. The record establishes that KCSC’s August 18, 2022, FOIA disclosure was incomplete/redacted

### **B. Whether the circuit court erred by failing to follow the procedural requirements, deadlines, and substantive legal standards of FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A)**

### **C. Whether the circuit court erred in granting Respondent’s oral motions for Judgment on the Pleadings and Dismissal for Failure to Prosecute after the August 8, 2023, Form 4 Order effectively ended this case on lack-of-FOIA-requester standing grounds**

1. The circuit court’s application of FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A)’s statutory standing provision leads to a result that is plainly absurd
2. There was no basis for a non-jury trial on August 27, 2024, that could support the circuit court’s Dismissal for Failure to Prosecute

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 24, 2023, Appellant Christine Jernigan (“Appellant” or “Mrs. Jernigan”) initiated this case (the “538 FOIA case”) against Respondent Kershaw County South Carolina (“Respondent” or “KCSC”) in the Court of Common Pleas for the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Kershaw County. (R. pp. 1-18). Count I seeks declaratory and associated injunctive/equitable relief including: (i) a finding that the written determination and disclosure provided by KCSC to Appellant on August 18, 2022, violates the statutory requirements of the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), Section 30-4-30(c); and (ii) an order requiring disclosure of the relevant public

records requested; *e.g.*, KCSC’s June 29, 2022, E-911/Dispatch audio recordings. (R. pp. 14-15, 17). The Complaint also seeks (*iii*) an order awarding Appellant costs/expenses, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred in this action pursuant to FOIA, Section 30-4-100(B). (R. pp. 15, 17).

For records of the FOIA Request submitted to KCSC on August 11, 2022, that have been destroyed or otherwise rendered unavailable by KCSC, Count II seeks declaratory/equitable relief pursuant to FOIA and the Public Records Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 30-4-10, *et seq.* (R. pp. 16-17). Most importantly, the long-promised June 29, 2022, E-911/Dispatch recordings – which are indisputably public records that should have been disclosed years ago – have apparently been destroyed or otherwise rendered unavailable by KCSC. As this Court has held, FOIA would be rendered meaningless if public bodies could simply destroy, rather than disclose, requested public records in violation of the legal requirements of FOIA and the Public Records Act. *See Ballard v. Newberry Cnty.*, 432 S.C. 526, 534, 854 S.E.2d 848, 852 (Ct. App. 2021) (holding that “[d]estruction of pertinent documents covered by a then-pending FOIA request could very well present” a cause of action pursuant to FOIA and/or the Public Records Act).

In sum, for Count I, the primary question is whether KCSC’s August 18, 2022, written determination and disclosure of public records violated the statutory requirements of FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c). For Count II, the primary question is whether KCSC’s destruction of requested public records – *e.g.*, KCSC’s apparent destruction of the long-promised June 29, 2022, E-911/Dispatch recordings – violates the legal requirements of FOIA and the Public Records Act. Accordingly, this is a “paper case” involving the application of legal principles to facts of record (*i.e.*, questions of law).

The factual background of the present 538 FOIA case necessarily overlaps with that of an earlier-filed, related case (the “782 FOIA case”) which is also currently on appeal before this Court. *See Jernigan v. Kershaw County Sheriff’s Office*, App. No. 2024-000833 (the “833 appeal”). Both cases address similar issues; e.g., whether the respective written determinations provided by the public bodies violated the statutory requirements of FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c), and whether the circuit court erred by failing to follow the legal requirements of FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A). As a matter of judicial efficiency and consistency, Appellant respectfully submits that this Court should exercise its discretion pursuant to Rule 214, SCACR, by consolidating these two related appeals before the same panel.

On June 28, 2022, undersigned counsel left phone messages with Kershaw County Sheriff’s Office (“KCSO”) officers reporting concerns relating to his grandmother, and Appellant Mrs. Jernigan’s mother, Ann Martin (“Mrs. Martin”), who is a vulnerable adult pursuant to the Omnibus Adult Protection Act (“OAPA”), S.C. Code Ann. §§ 43-35-5, *et seq.* (R. pp. 10 at ¶¶55; 55 at ¶3; 61-62; 67-68; 103-04; 121-22 at ¶¶11, 16-17, 21). Mrs. Martin served as office manager and chief receptionist for the South Carolina House of Representatives, Solomon Blatt Building, for over three decades until her retirement in 2013 due to age-related cognitive decline. *See* H. 4594, 120th Session (2013-2014); (R. pp. 116-19).

On June 29, 2022, at around 9:44am, KCSO Officer #15 Courtney Cochran contacted KCSC Dispatch Operator Tina Hand, via phone, regarding undersigned counsel’s phone messages reporting concerns pursuant to the OAPA. (R. pp. 10 at ¶¶54-55; 61-62; 67-68; 104; 122 at ¶¶16, 22). KCSC Dispatch Operator Tina Hand dispatched/assigned KCSO Officer #45 Joseph Branham (Primary) who, at around 10:30am on June 29, 2022, spoke with undersigned

counsel via phone regarding Mrs. Martin and the OAPA-related concerns. (R. pp. 11 at ¶¶58; 61-62; 67-68; 104; 122 at ¶¶20, 22).

At around 11:00am on the morning of June 29, 2022, Mrs. Martin chose to exercise her right to travel away from a privately-owned, for-profit assisted living facility located in Kershaw County, known as Pinedale, with her daughter Mrs. Jernigan. (R. pp. 7 at ¶¶37; 104; 117 at ¶¶12-14; 123 at ¶¶25-27).<sup>1</sup> After Mrs. Martin chose to travel away from Pinedale with her daughter, KCSO Officers #45 Joseph Branham (Primary), #42 Grant Arledge, and #40 Brian Morris were dispatched/assigned by KCSC to pursue them in police vehicles. (R. pp. 7 at ¶¶38, 55 at ¶¶5, 64-65, 104, 122-23 at ¶¶21, 128 at ¶27). The KCSO Officers stopped Appellant Mrs. Jernigan’s vehicle after she and Mrs. Martin traveled away from Pinedale. (*Id.*).

Undersigned counsel drove to KCSO’s primary office in Lugoff, South Carolina, and attempted to intervene on behalf of his mother and grandmother. (R. pp. 55 at ¶¶5; 65; 104; 122 at ¶21). Despite undersigned counsel’s in-person appeals – and KCSO Officer #15 Courtney Cochran’s associated communications, via KCSC Dispatch Operator Tina Procter, that undersigned counsel “Justin [Jernigan] is at the Sheriff Dept. and wants to let 42 and 40 know” – KCSO remanded Mrs. Martin to the Pinedale facility. (R. pp. 65, 104-05). KCSO indicated that Appellant Mrs. Jernigan would have to “contact the court” with respect to her mother Mrs. Martin being remanded to the privately-owned, for-profit Pinedale facility. (*Id.*).

Appellant’s FOIA Request seeks public records relevant to the police-involved events of June 28-29, 2022. (R. pp. 6 at ¶29; 34-35; 54-57). Prior to submitting the FOIA Request to

---

<sup>1</sup> See, e.g., Bill of Rights for Residents of Long-Term Care Facilities, S.C. Code Ann. § 44-81-20 (“The General Assembly further finds that it is necessary to preserve the dignity and personal integrity of residents of long-term care facilities through the recognition and declaration of rights safeguarding against encroachments upon each resident’s need for self-determination.”).

KCSC on August 11, 2022, the Request was first submitted to KCSO on July 22, 2022. (R. pp. 7 at ¶¶33-34; 30-31; 107-08; 120-21 at ¶¶9-10). KCSO’s Records Department responded on July 25, 2022, by indicating that KCSO would not provide any of the communication/dispatch-related records of the FOIA Request, and that these records must instead be obtained from KCSC.

After reviewing your request, we do not have any reports regarding the incident you mentioned from June 29, 2022. The only records of this incident in our system are the calls made to our central dispatch, and you will have to obtain those records from them. According to the records and your request, you were informed that the issue you were dealing with was a civil issue, so that is why we do not have any records regarding this incident. If you have any further questions or concerns, you are welcome to contact us.

(R. pp. 7 at ¶35; 34-35; 107).<sup>2</sup>

The records encompassed by the FOIA Request include all records associated with the “Pinedale facility,” and “audio recordings” of any type relating to the employees (i.e., the dispatch operators and officers) who were personally involved with the events of June 28-29, 2022. (See R. pp. 7 at ¶36; 14-15 at ¶84; 55-57; 183). In addition, the FOIA Request seeks personnel/training records for the employees personally involved in the events that occurred on and around June 29, 2022. (R. pp. 14-15 at ¶84; 56 at ¶2; 183).<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> Appellant respectfully submits that the lack of certainty in and around July/August 2022 as to the E911/Dispatch arrangement between and amongst KCSO and KCSC was reasonable and understandable. Indeed, as of 2019, approximately half of the E-911 Organizations in this State operated under the umbrella of either a chief of police or county sheriff’s department. (See R. p. 183).

<sup>3</sup> As discussed above at footnote two, the initial FOIA Request included a few readily apparent, good faith errors by indicating that the “Dispatch Operator[s]” personally involved were believed to be KCSO (i.e., “Department”) employees. ((See R. pp. 183-184 citing R. pp. 55 at ¶2 (“the Department (Dispatch Operator)”); 56 at ¶1 (“Department dispatch line”); and 56 at ¶2 (“Department employees”)).

**A. KCSC's August 18, 2022, FOIA Response and Disclosures**

Pre-suit counsel provided KCSC's only response to the FOIA Request on August 18, 2022.

I am responding to your Freedom of Information Act request dated August 4, 2022, on behalf of KC E9-1-1 Communications. Please find enclosed herewith all documents not subject to exemption under the South Carolina Freedom of Information Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-10, *et. seq.* as well as a CD containing the audio. If you have any other questions or concerns, do not hesitate to contact me.

(R. pp. 8 at ¶¶43-44; 59; 108; 121 at ¶11).

KCSC's August 18, 2022, FOIA Response attached and disclosed one relevant public document, CFS2022-39001, which states that it was printed on August 18, 2022. (R. pp. 9-10 at ¶¶49-50; 61-62; 109; 121 at ¶11). The August 18, 2022, CFS2022-39001 public record, however, omitted the names of the respective KCSC Dispatch Operators who were personally involved with the associated communications documented therein. (*See* R. pp. 10 at ¶¶50-52; 61-62; 67-68; 109; 121 at ¶11; 122 at ¶22). These omissions are apparent when the November 17, 2022, CFS2022-39001 document, which was disclosed by KCSO on December 2, 2022, in the related 782 FOIA case, is compared against the August 18, 2022, CFS2022-39001 document disclosed by KCSC. (*Compare* R. pp. 67-68 with R. pp. 61-62).

The CD optical disc disclosed by KCSC with its August 18, 2022, FOIA Response Letter contained a total of twelve (12) individual audio recording files of phone calls concerning or involving undersigned counsel; *i.e.*, Audio File Nos. 0 to 11. (R. pp. 10 at ¶53; 60; 109; 121 at ¶¶11-12). The first four audio recording files (*i.e.*, Audio File Nos. 0 to 3) are respective portions of the phone call by KCSO Officer #15 Courtney Cochran to KCSC Dispatch Operator Tina Hand beginning around 9:44am on the morning of June 29, 2022, and ending between 9:46am and 9:47am. (R. pp. 10 at ¶¶54-55; 61-62; 67-68; 109; 121 at ¶¶13-14; 122 at ¶¶16-17).

The subject matter of Audio File Nos. 0 to 3 involves undersigned counsel's June 28, 2022, phone messages left with KCSO officers reporting OAPA-related concerns with respect to Mrs. Martin. (*Id.*).

The end time of Audio File No. 3 (*i.e.*, 9:46:38 start time plus 14 second duration) is 9:46:52. (R. pp. 121-22 at ¶15). Subtracting the 9:46:52 end time of Audio File No. 3 from the 9:44:37 start time of Audio File No. 0 yields a total phone call duration of 135 seconds. Adding up the four respective time durations of Audio File Nos. 0 to 3 (*i.e.*, 26s + 47s + 27s + 14s), however, yields a total phone call duration of 114 seconds. (*Id.*). According to the math, twenty-one (21) seconds of the phone call between KCSO Officer #15 Courtney Cochran and KCSC Dispatch Operator Tina Hand on the morning of June 29, 2022, have been omitted from Audio File Nos. 0 to 3 by KCSC. (*Id.*).

The last eight audio files of the CD optical disc disclosed by KCSC with its August 18, 2022, FOIA Response Letter (*i.e.*, Audio Files Nos. 4 to 11) are recordings of undersigned counsel's June 29, 2022, afternoon/evening phone communications with various KCSC Dispatch Operators, and KCSO Officer #32 Dustin Tate, unsuccessfully attempting to obtain a public record documenting the police-involved events of June 28-29, 2022. (R. pp. 10-11 at ¶56; 61-62; 67-68; 109; 122 at ¶18). No audio recordings of undersigned counsel's phone communications reporting the OAPA-related concerns to KCSO Officer #45 Joseph Branham (Primary) on the morning of June 29, 2022, were included on the CD optical disc containing the twelve (12) total audio recording files. (R. pp. 11 at ¶58; 109-10; 122 at ¶20).

Most importantly, however, KCSC's disclosures on August 18, 2022, withheld all records and audio recordings associated with the E-911/Dispatch communications on the morning of June 29, 2022, accusing Appellant and undersigned counsel of improper or unlawful

conduct. (See R. pp. 11 at ¶¶59; 13 at ¶¶71; 41; 59-62; 110; 186-87; 122 at ¶¶16-18). As demonstrated by the November 17, 2022, CFS2022-39009 public record – which was produced by KCSO on December 2, 2022, in the related 782 FOIA case – there are E-911/Dispatch communications documented therein for which no audio recordings have ever been disclosed by KCSC. The November 17, 2022, CFS2022-39009 public record, *inter alia*, demonstrates that the Administrator of the Pinedale facility, Phillip Hudson (“Mr. Hudson”), called KCSC E-911/Dispatch on the morning of June 29, 2022, and asserted that Appellant and undersigned counsel had committed improper or unlawful acts. (See R. pp. 12 at ¶¶69; 64-65; 110; 122 at ¶¶21; 186-87). Mr. Hudson’s E-911 call to KCSC on the morning of June 29, 2022, totaled approximately one hour, lasting from 10:55am to 11:53am. (R. pp. 12 at ¶¶70; 64-65; 110-11).

In late August 2022, near the expiration of FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c)’s disclosure deadlines, Appellant believed that KCSC and KCSO would resolve the FOIA matters amicably on reasonable terms; *e.g.*, to avoid wasting taxpayer and judicial resources. On August 23, 2022, Appellant offered, as a mutually beneficial solution, to extend the applicable disclosure deadlines of FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c), if KCSC (or KCSO) would agree to provide the third-party citizen E-911/Dispatch call records and recordings that triggered KCSO’s June 29, 2022, police-actions – *i.e.*, Mr. Hudson’s approximately one-hour E-911 call – as soon as possible. (See R. pp. 11 at ¶¶60; 41; 110; 120 at ¶¶9; 187). Otherwise, undersigned counsel requested that pre-suit counsel for KCSC and KCSO agree to keep Appellant “in the loop” moving forward regarding when the additional records of the FOIA Request – *e.g.*, the requested personnel/training records of the employees personally involved – would thereafter be disclosed. (R. p. 41).

Pre-suit counsel for KCSC and KCSO rejected the August 23, 2022, settlement proposal that same night at around 9:00pm. (See R. pp. 11 at ¶¶61; 40). Thereafter, on August 24, 2022,

undersigned counsel offered to personally inspect and make copies of the public records of the FOIA Request. (R. pp. 12 at ¶¶62-63; 39; 110; 188). Pre-suit counsel for KCSC and KCSO never responded to undersigned counsel’s August 24, 2022, proposal seeking to resolve the FOIA matters amicably by personally inspecting and copying the relevant public records of the FOIA Request.

At the initial hearing before Judge Newman on December 19, 2022, in the related 782 FOIA case, the audio recordings of Mr. Hudson’s approximately one-hour long E-911 call on the morning of June 29, 2022, were discussed. (R. p. 12 at ¶75). Specifically, with respect to Mr. Hudson’s June 29, 2022, E911 call, litigation counsel for KCSO (and KCSC) stated that he and his associate were “going to central dispatch to get that additional recording, if it exists. I presume that it does, but I don’t know. But we’re going to Kershaw County Dispatch to get that.” (R. p. 76, lines 7-10). After the December 19, 2022, initial FOIA hearing in the 782 FOIA case, however, the June 29, 2022, E-911 audio recordings were never disclosed to Appellant. (R. pp. 13 at ¶76; 111-12).

**B. Appellant’s July 28, 2023, Motion for Equitable Relief**

Appellant’s July 24, 2023, Complaint requests that the circuit court schedule “an initial hearing within ten days of the date of service of this Complaint upon KCSC” pursuant to the legal requirements of FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A). (R. pp. 15 at ¶87; 17 at ¶A). FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A), states in part (emphasis added):

Upon the filing of the request for declaratory judgment or injunctive relief related to provisions of this chapter, the chief administrative judge of the circuit court *must* schedule an initial hearing within ten days of the service on all parties. If the hearing court is unable to make a final ruling at the initial hearing, the court *shall* establish a scheduling order to conclude actions brought pursuant to this chapter within six months of initial filing. The court may extend this [six-month] time period upon a showing of good cause. The court may order equitable relief as it

considers appropriate, and a violation of this chapter *must* be considered to be an irreparable injury for which no adequate remedy at law exists.

On July 28, 2023, Appellant’s Summons/Complaint and Exhibits A to F were formally served upon KCSC. (R. p. 142). This Court recently held that the Chief Administrative Judge (“CAJ”) of the circuit court is responsible for complying with and meeting the legal requirements of FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A), when a FOIA-plaintiff includes a request that the circuit court schedule the initial 10-day hearing in the complaint. *See Osmundson v. School District 5*, 443 S.C. 610, 614-16, 905 S.E.2d 418 (Ct. App. 2024) (interpreting FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A) based on its plain meaning, as a matter of first impression).

Even so, Appellant took further steps in the present 538 FOIA case in an effort to obtain the legal protections enacted by our legislature for the benefit of all FOIA plaintiffs at Section 30-4-100(A). Appellant filed an expedited Motion on July 28, 2023, requesting: (i) the initial ten-day hearing required by Section 30-4-100(A); (ii) injunctive/equitable relief ordering KCSC to fully respond to and disclose the records of the FOIA Request pursuant to the legal requirements of FOIA, Section 30-4-30(c); and (iii) a scheduling order to conclude proceedings in this case within six months of filing (the “Motion for Equitable Relief”). (R. pp. 102-13). On August 7, 2023, Appellant filed/submitted a follow-up Letter to Judge Newman, CAJ, regarding the required 10-day initial hearing for the July 28, 2023, Motion for Equitable Relief. (R. p. 143). Appellant’s August 7, 2023, Letter “respectfully request[s] that your Honor move this FOIA-case forward in a manner consistent with” FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A). (*Id.*).

### **C. The August 8, 2023, Initial Hearing and Form 4 Order**

Pursuant to FOIA, Section 30-40-100(A), “[a] citizen of the State may apply to the circuit court for a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, or both, to enforce the provisions of this chapter.” At the initial hearing on August 8, 2023, Judge Newman issued rulings from the bench

denying Appellant’s July 28, 2023, Motion for Equitable Relief on grounds that Appellant Mrs. Jernigan, who is a life-long resident of this State (R. pp. 2 at ¶1; 55 at ¶4; 125 at ¶4; 263 at ¶5), lacks standing to proceed with this case because she was not specifically listed as “requester” on the FOIA Request (R. p. 219, lines 3-10).<sup>4</sup>

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