RECEIVED

Oct 06 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM KERSHAW COUNTY
Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-002127
Case No. 2023-CP-28-0538

Christine Jernigan, Appellant,

v.

Kershaw County South Carolina, Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDREW F. LINDEMANN
LINDEMANN LAW FIRM, P.A.
5 Calendar Court, Suite 202
Post Office Box 6923
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 881-8920

DAVID L. MORRISON
GARFIELD SPREEUWERS LAW GROUP
1200 Pickens Street
Post Office Box 119
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 830-5469

Counsel for Respondent Kershaw County

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The South Carolina Court of Appeals lacks appellate jurisdiction over this appeal.

The Appellant failed to file a timely notice of appeal, and for that reason, this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction. In its Form Order filed November 21, 2024, the trial court ruled that the Appellant’s motion to reconsider “was not timely filed.” (R. 270). While the Appellant included that Form Order in her notice of appeal, when the Appellant filed her Appellant’s Opening Brief which establishes the issues raised on appeal, the Appellant did not appeal or raise as an issue on appeal that the trial court’s finding that her motion to reconsider “was not timely filed” was in error. That issue is not mentioned or addressed in the Statement of Issues on Appeal nor in the Argument section of that Opening Brief. In fact, there is no issue on appeal directed at the Form Order filed November 21, 2024, nor any substantive discussion of that Form Order in the Appellant’s Opening Brief.

Therefore, given the posture of this appeal and briefing, it is clear that the Appellant has not appealed the trial court’s explicit ruling that her motion to reconsider “was not timely filed.” It is well-settled that “an unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.” *Atlantic Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012). Thus, the law of this case – whether correct or not – holds that the Appellant’s motion to reconsider was not timely filed.

Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR, provides: “When a *timely* motion ... to alter or amend the judgment ... has been made, the time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed and shall run from receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion.” Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR. (Emphasis added). Likewise, Rule 59(f), SCRCR provides: “The time for appeal for all

parties shall be stayed by a *timely* motion under this Rule and shall run from the receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motions.” Rule 59(f), SCRPC. (Emphasis added). Thus, in order for a motion to reconsider brought pursuant to Rule 59(e) to stay the time for appeal, that motion must be “timely.”

In the case at bar, however, the trial court issued an unappealed ruling that the motion to reconsider “was not timely filed,” and as a result, the filing of that motion to reconsider did not stay the time for filing the notice of appeal. Instead, the Appellant had thirty days from the filing date of the October 17, 2024 Order in which to file her notice of appeal, but the notice of appeal was not filed until December 16, 2024. That was too late, and accordingly, this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction.²

While it appears that the trial court may very well have been in error in ruling that the motion to reconsider “was not timely filed,” that does not impact the analysis of appellate jurisdiction. As mentioned, under clear South Carolina precedent, the trial court’s unappealed ruling that the motion to reconsider was untimely filed – whether right or wrong – constitutes the law of this case. In addition to not appealing that ruling in her Opening Brief, the Appellant never preserved that issue by filing a subsequent Rule 59(e) motion calling any error regarding

² In response to the earlier filed Motion to Dismiss Appeal, the Appellant attempted to challenge the trial court’s explicit ruling that her motion to reconsider “was not timely filed.” However, it is too late for her to challenge that ruling at this stage of the appeal, where the Appellant both failed to appeal from that ruling in her Opening Brief and failed to seek reconsideration from the trial court prior to even filing her appeal. Notably, the Appellant did not dispute that she committed those very errors, but instead disputes their impact on this Court’s appellate jurisdiction. The Appellant referred to those errors as “alleged procedural missteps or deficiencies which do not affect this Court’s appellate jurisdiction.” She is incorrect in that regard.

the timeliness of the motion to reconsider to the trial court's attention and giving that court the opportunity to correct such error.³

As is well-settled, the law on issue preservation in South Carolina mandates that an error be first called to the trial court's attention in order to preserve an issue for appeal. That is also the case where an error is initially made in an order resolving a motion to reconsider. As this Court has held, "[w]hen a party receives an order that grants certain relief not previously contemplated or presented to the trial court, the aggrieved party must move, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, to alter or amend the judgment in order to preserve the issue for appeal." *In re Timmerman*, 331 S.C. 455, 502 S.E.2d 920, 922 (Ct. App. 1998). The reason for that is clear: the trial court must have "the opportunity promptly to correct their own alleged errors." *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779 (2004).⁴ *See also, Pelican Building Centers v. Dutton*, 311 S.C. 56, 427 S.E.2d 673, 675 (1993) (issue not preserved for appeal where the ruling is made first in a post-trial order and is not challenged by a subsequent Rule 59(e) motion); *Godfrey v. Heller*, 311 S.C. 516, 429 S.E.2d 859, 859 (Ct. App. 1993) (where a theory of relief was first raised in the lower court's order, appellant must challenge this theory with a Rule 59(e) motion); *I'On, LLC v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) ("The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court

³ This rule of law is also consistent with the longstanding precedent that "South Carolina appellate courts do not recognize the 'plain error rule,' under which a court in certain circumstances is allowed to consider and rectify an error not raised below by the party." *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transportation*, 361 S.C. 9, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004). Thus, this Court cannot rectify or correct any timeliness issue that was not challenged in the court below and was not raised on appeal to this Court.

⁴ *See, Sweeney v. Sweeney*, 420 S.C. 69, 800 S.E.2d 148 (Ct. App. 2017) (finding "[b]ecause the family court did not have the opportunity to rule upon the issue or *correct any alleged mistakes in its final order*, we find it unpreserved for our review"). (Emphasis added).

erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments”).

Thus, in addition to failing to appeal the trial court’s ruling that the motion to reconsider “was not timely filed,” the Appellant also failed to raise any timeliness error to the trial court before filing her appeal. Contrary to the Appellant’s assertion, her so-called “procedural missteps or deficiencies” cannot be corrected at this stage of the litigation, and this Court has no jurisdiction to excuse those errors. Moreover, as stated in Rule 6(b), SCRPC, “[t]he time for filing notice of intent to appeal is jurisdictional and may not be extended by consent or order.” Rule 6(b), SCRPC. As the Supreme Court has held, “[s]ervice of the notice of intent to appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, and this Court has no authority to extend or expand the time in which the notice of intent to appeal must be served.” *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 337 S.E.2d 206, 207 (1985). As a pertinent example of this rule applied under similar circumstances, in *Connor v. City of Forest Acres*, 348 S.C. 454, 560 S.E.2d 606 (2002), the Supreme Court actually reversed this Court for granting the appellant’s motion to correct the record and for accepting a backdated notice of appeal where the court lacked appellate jurisdiction to do so. 560 S.E.2d at 610. The same limitations on appellate jurisdiction apply in this appeal. Accordingly, this Court lacks jurisdiction to take any corrective action even if it may wish to do so.

In sum, the Respondent respectfully requests that the Court dismiss this appeal for lack of appellate jurisdiction.

II. The trial court’s denial of the Appellant’s Motion for Equitable Relief is not appealable even after final judgment.

The Appellant has appealed the denial of her so-styled Motion for Equitable Relief which was filed July 28, 2023, and was heard on August 8, 2023, by the trial judge. The motion was filed following the filing of her Complaint on July 24, 2023. The Appellant sought relief pursuant to Section 30-4-100(A), which provides in pertinent part as follows:

A citizen of the State may apply to the circuit court for a declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, or both, to enforce the provisions of this chapter in appropriate cases if the application is made no later than one year after the date of the alleged violation or one year after a public vote in public session, whichever comes later. Upon the filing of the request for declaratory judgment or injunctive relief related to provisions of this chapter, the chief administrative judge of the circuit court must schedule an initial hearing within ten days of the service on all parties.

S.C. Code Ann. § 30-4-100(A).⁵ Following the hearing, the trial judge issued a Form Order summarily denying the motion and providing no specific rulings on the Appellant’s FOIA claims and the relief sought. The transcript of the August 8, 2023 hearing shows that the trial judge

⁵ The Appellant argues that the trial court erred in “failing to follow the procedural requirements, deadlines, and substantive legal standards of FOIA, Section 30-4-100(A) to reach a timely final resolution.” See, Appellant’s Opening Brief, p. 25. In this case, the trial judge held a hearing on August 8, 2023, but there is no indication in the record, including the hearing transcript, that the Appellant raised any objection to the trial court regarding the timing of the hearing. The Appellant likewise has not shown any prejudice resulted from holding the hearing on August 8, 2023. In *Davis v. South Carolina Educational Credit for Exception Needs Children Fund*, 441 S.C. 187, 893 S.E.2d 330 (Ct. App. 2023), this Court noted that “[i]nitial hearings under FOIA are generally supposed to be scheduled ‘within ten days of service on all parties.’” 893 S.E.2d at 332, n.2. According to the affidavit of service, the Respondent was served with the Complaint on July 28, 2023. As a result, the hearing was held on the eleventh day after service. Importantly, however, the Appellant made a request for a hearing to the chief administrative judge on August 7, 2023, which was the tenth day after service. The hearing was then set to be held the next day. The record thus shows that the hearing was scheduled within the ten-day window (by August 7, 2023), and was held on the following day. This demonstrates compliance with the plain language and certainly the spirit of Section 30-4-100(A), and most certainly, the Appellant has not demonstrated any prejudice.

attempted to address with Appellant’s counsel the bases for her denial of the Motion for Equitable Relief, but she was interrupted several times. The trial judge then made the decision to summarily deny the motion by the issuance of a form order. (R. 217-224).

On appeal, the Appellant argues that her Motion for Equitable Relief was denied in error, and despite being an interlocutory ruling, the Appellant asks this Court to award final dispositive relief. However, the ruling of the Motion for Equitable Relief is no different from other interlocutory orders directed at the merits of a cause of action which are not appealable even after final judgment. The Motion for Equitable Relief, despite the label attributed to the motion by the Appellant,⁶ is the functional equivalent of a motion for summary judgment, or at the very least, is akin to a motion for summary judgment which seeks an early summary disposition as to the merits of a case.

South Carolina law is well established that such motions do not establish the law of the case or a final judgment that may be appealed. The Supreme Court has clearly explained that “[a] denial of a motion for summary judgment decides nothing about the merits of the case.” *Ballenger v. Bowen*, 313 S.C. 476, 443 S.E.2d 379, 380 (1994). “The denial of summary judgment does not establish the law of the case, and the issues raised in the motion may be raised again later in the proceedings.” *Id.* The Supreme Court further explained in *Ballenger* that “the denial of summary judgment does not *finally* determine anything about the merits of the case.” *Id.* (Emphasis in original). *See also, McLendon v. South Carolina Department of Highways and*

⁶ This Court has explained that “[g]enerally, section 14-3-330(2) has been narrowly construed and immediate appeal of various orders issued before or during trial generally has been allowed. We believe a narrow construction of section 14-3-330(2)(c) requires us to focus on the effect of the order, not the label given to the motion or to the order granting it.” *Thornton v. South Carolina Electric & Gas Corp.*, 391 S.C. 297, 705 S.E.2d 475, 478 (Ct. App. 2011). “Our courts have previously looked beyond labels on motions and orders to discern their actual effect for purposes of appealability.” *Id.*, n. 6.

Public Transportation, 313 S.C. 525, 443 S.E.2d 539, 540, n.2 (1994) (“the denial of a motion to dismiss does not establish the law of the case and the issue raised by the motion can be raised again at a later stage of the proceedings”).⁷

Additionally, and of particular importance here, the Supreme Court has held that “the denial of a motion for summary judgment is not appealable, even after final judgment.” *Olson v. Faculty House of South Carolina, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 161, 580 S.E.2d 440, 444 (2003). *See also*, *Silverman v. Campbell*, 326 S.C. 208, 486 S.E.2d 1 (1997). In applying this case law to the case at bar, the Appellant should be precluded from appealing the interlocutory order denying her Motion for Equitable Relief. That order did not finally decide the merits of the case nor establish the law of the case. Instead, it allowed for the issues raised by the motion to be litigated again later in the proceedings, which includes during the non-jury trial of the case scheduled for and held on August 27, 2024. Because the Appellant did not appear at trial, she abandoned her claims and waived any right to obtain a ruling on the merits of her FOIA claims (in the event she had standing in the first place).

In her Opening Brief, the Appellant addresses the appealability of the Form Order denying her Motion for Equitable Relief by arguing that her motion is akin to a motion for temporary injunction and that an order denying a motion for temporary injunction is immediately appealable pursuant to Section 14-3-330(4). *See*, Appellant’s Opening Brief, pp. 12-13.

⁷ “As a general rule, only final judgments are appealable.” *Ex parte Wilson*, 367 S.C. 7, 625 S.E.2d 205, 208 (2005). As the Supreme Court has explained “[a]ny judgment or decree, leaving some further act to be done by the court before the rights of the parties are determined, is interlocutory and not final.” *Id.* *See also*, *Culbertson v. Clemens*, 322 S.C. 20, 471 S.E.2d 163, 164 (1996).

However, even if her motion is akin to a motion for temporary injunction, which is disputed,⁸ the Form Order is still not appealable after final judgment. By their very nature, “[t]emporary injunctions are interlocutory, tentative, and impermanent and are superseded by the final judgment rendered on the merits.” *Curtis v. State*, 345 S.C. 557, 549 S.E.2d 591, 597 (2001). “The sole object of a temporary injunction is to preserve the subject of the controversy in its condition at the time of the order until opportunity is offered for full and deliberate trial investigation.” *Id.* “[A] temporary injunction will be granted without regard to the ultimate termination of the case on the merits.” *Helsel v. City of North Myrtle Beach*, 307 S.C. 29, 413 S.E.2d 824, 826 (1992). “A temporary injunction is made without prejudice to the rights of either party pending a hearing on the merits, and when other issues are brought to trial, they are determined without reference to the temporary injunction.” *Id.* Most importantly, “[t]he sole purpose of a temporary injunction is to preserve the status quo.” *County of Richland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 560 S.E.2d 902, 905 (Ct. App. 2002).

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